1954

State of Utah et al v. Fred Tedesco et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There is no dispute between the parties here as to whether or not the appellants have been damaged by the condemnation of the property taken for the "This is the Place" monument. The only question is whether or not such damages are compensable under the law.

Prior to the 11th day of July, 1951, Wagner Improvement Company, a corporation which was organized for the purpose of planning and developing certain properties belonging to the Charles H. Deere estate, was the owner of approximately 180 acres of land on the eastern boundary of Salt Lake City. Bird & Evans, Inc., the appellants herein, were the owners of approximately 35 acres of land east of and immediately adjoining the land of Wagner Improvement Company (R. 70). The map which is attached to this brief as an appendix shows the relative location of these two tracts. In the middle 1940's, the Wagner Improvement Company and the predecessors in interest of Bird & Evans, Inc., Mr. and Mrs. William Webb, set about the work of planning and developing an exclusive subdivision to be known as Oak Hills Subdivision to cover both the lands owned by the Wagner Improvement Company and the lands owned by the Webbs (R. 71). During the course of

the development, Bird & Evans, Inc., was formed, which company acquired the land from the Webbs, the Webbs retaining an interest therein.

The work of planning and development of the subdivision went on uninterrupted by this transfer of title. Mr. Dean F. Brayton, a Salt Lake attorney was Vice-President of Wagner Improvement Company and the manager of their activities in the state of Utah. He was also attorney for the Webbs and later became attorney for Bird & Evans, Inc., for the purpose of carrying out the development of the subdivision. Mr. A. B. Paulsen, an architect and subdividing consultant, was jointly employed by the Webbs and the Wagner Improvement Company, and later, after Bird & Evans, Inc., came into existence, Mr. Paulsen became a stockholder and officer in Bird & Evans, Inc.

It was agreed between the owners of the two properties that Mr. Paulsen and Mr. Brayton should represent both sides in planning and carrying out the subdivision development (R. 78-79). It was further agreed that the costs of planning would be divided between the owners of the two tracts of land in proportion to their land holdings, and, in fact, the very considerable expense entailed in planning was so borne and was so paid (R. 72). As to the installation of improvements on the subdivision, it was agreed that the costs of installation of these improvements would be borne by the owners of the lots within the subdivision abutting the particular improvement in question (R. 82). Restrictive covenants were drawn up by Mr. Brayton and agreed upon by the owners of both properties to be placed in effect as the plats were recorded and accepted

in the office of the County Recorder. These restrictive covenants appeared in evidence as Exhibit 8 and generally limited use of the property in question to high grade residence units, some minor exceptions being made for commercial areas. The work of planning of said subdivision was completed sometime prior to July 11, 1951 and the work of development thereof was underway at that time. Exhibits 1 to 7 inclusive are a few of the many maps and drawings which were prepared on this project. Exhibit 3 is a survey which was made by Mr. Thomas Heath in 1948. Mr. Heath at the time of the trial was right-of-way agent for the state of Utah and appeared at all times in court during the trial of this case as a representative of the state of Utah.

From an examination of these exhibits, it is clear that the Bird & Evans property and the Wagner Improvement property were considered by the planners as a single piece of property and planning and development work thereon was proceeding as if no difference in ownership existed. In fact it will be seen from an examination of Exhibit 1 that along the border line of the two tracts the lots were subdivided so that individual lots lay partly in the Bird & Evans tract and partly in the Wagner Improvement Company tract. No attention was paid at all by the planners and developers to the property line between the two tracts. They proceeded as if it were not there and as if the entire tract were of common ownership.

Because of the fact that the market could absorb each year only a limited number of lots of this high quality, and because of the further fact that subdivided land generally takes a higher valuation for tax purposes than does unsub-

divided land, the planners and developers jointly agreed that a plat of the entire subdivision should not be filed but that the subdivision should be divided into a number of plats. Each plat should be filed individually and should be developed and placed on the market before an additional plat should be filed. The restrictive covenants which it had been agreed should be applicable to all plats were made of record as to each plat at the time the plat in question was filed.

The Wagner Improvement Company property lay partly on the north side and partly on the south side of Emigration Canyon. The Bird & Evans property lay entirely on the south side of the canyon. At the time of the filing of the condemnation action by the state on July 11, 1951, the plats to the area lying north of the canyon had been recorded and partially sold out. The plats on the area south of the canyon, those affecting both properties, had not yet been filed. Mr. Brayton testified that he believed that the demand for residential property would have warranted the filing of these plants and the installation of the improvements thereon in the year 1951 (R. 83). Mr. Wright and Mr. Benedict, expert witnesses for the appellants, assumed in their appraisals that the plats might not have been filed until 1953 (R. 112). Mr. Werner Kiepe, an expert witness, called by the state of Utah who was well acquainted with demands for residential property of this type, testified that in his opinion the demand for residential property was such that the owners of the property would have proceeded with the development and sale on the south side of the canyon, including the Bird & Evans property in the year 1954 (R. 154).

On July 11, 1951, the state instituted condemnation proceedings to condemn certain lands for the purpose of constructing a state park. They took substantially all of the Wagner Improvement Company property on the north side of the canyon, and a portion of that on the south including all of the land which lay between the Bird & Evans property and the existing residential area of Salt Lake City. The land taken by the condemnation proceedings is shown on the appendix attached hereto. It will be noted from an examination thereof that the condemnation action took the land right up to, but not including the Bird & Evans property.

As has been stated before, all parties are agreed that as a result of the condemnation of a portion of the subdivision of which it was a part, the Bird & Evans property suffered substantial damages. Mr. Werner Kiepe testified that in his opinion as a direct result of the condemnation action the Bird & Evans property had been diminished in value by \$9,600.00. Mr. Edward M. Ashton, another appraiser for the state, estimated the diminution in value at \$14,000.00. Mr. Ralph Wright and Mr. Joseph Benedict, appraisers for the appellants, placed the figure for diminution of value at \$58,000.00 and \$57,500.00 respectively. The jury determined the amount to be \$30,500.00.

The reason for this diminution in value of Bird & Evans property as a result of the condemning of a portion of the subdivision is obvious. Before the condemnation it had been part and parcel of a large and exclusive subdivision for which it had contributed substantial sums of money for planning and development. The restrictive covenants binding both upon

it and the owners of the balance of the land in the subdivision required the use of the land only for high class residential purposes. The owners of the other lots were required by this agreement to aid in and contribute to the installation of the improvements which were necessary before the land could be sold as subdivision property. Immediately after the condemnation all of these advantages were gone. The money spent for planning was down the drain. The advantages in the installation of improvements resulting from the reciprocal agreements were gone. If the owners of the Bird & Evans property, or any other person that cared to purchase the property from them on the market, desired to use it for residential purposes, its highest and best use, they had to start over with planning and development. They had to bring utilities and other improvements entirely at their own expense from a considerable distance in order to qualify the property for residential purposes. Obviously, as all parties agreed the market value of the Bird & Evans property for residential subdivision purposes was materially decreased.

The nature of the damage to the Bird & Evans property was exactly the same in kind and character, although somewhat more severe in degree, as the damage to the portion of the Wagner Improvement property lying immediately south of the portion condemned as shown on the appendix. The State of Utah stipulated to a judgment against itself for the damages to the above mentioned portion of the Wagner Improvement tract not taken (see judgment of condemnation in the Deere estate case attached to this record.*) They resist damages to the Bird & Evans tract only on the ground of diversity of owner-

ship, in spite of the fact that there existed the reciprocal agreements, in spite of the fact that they were all parts of a common subdivision and in spite of the fact that the damages were exactly the same in nature.

(*Charles D. Wiman and Burton F. Peek, Trustees, appear as the owners of the Wagner Improvement Company tract in the Decree as these trustees took the property over for liquidation after condemnation was commenced because of a tax advantage from having the trustees liquidate rather than the corporation.)

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE

THE CLAIM OF THE COUNTERCLAIMANTS WAS PROPERLY COGNIZABLE BEFORE THE COURT.

POINT TWO

THE COUNTERCLAIMANTS ARE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT FOR THE CONDEMNATION AND DESTRUCTION OF THEIR RECIPROCAL COVENANTS.

POINT THREE

THE COUNTERCLAIMANTS ARE NOT BARRED FROM CLAIMING DAMAGES BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE CLAIM OF THE COUNTERCLAIMANTS WAS PROPERLY COGNIZABLE BEFORE THE COURT.

In the respondent's Motion to Dismiss made to the court immediately before trial of the action started, the first ground of the Motion was that the appellant was not properly before the court and that its remedy lay with the Board of Examiners. This point has already been determined by this court on intermediate appeal in *State v. Bird & Evans, Inc.*, 265 Pac. (2d) 639. There the court held that our counterclaim was properly filed and that we were not precluded from recovering because of the fact that the claim of Bird & Evans as to its property actually taken had been litigated to judgment.

Neither the case of *Hjorth v. Whittenburg*, 241 Pac. (2d) 907 or *State v. District Court, Fourth Judicial District*, 78 Pac. (2d) 502, have any applicability here. In *Hjorth v. Whittenburg* the plaintiff was seeking a judgment against the road commissioners in a separate action. The court held that their remedy, if any there was, lay with the Board of Examiners. In this case, however, we are properly before the Court in an action which the State itself started. We have filed our Counterclaim under the provisions of Section 78-34-7 U.C.A., 1953 which provides as follows:

"All persons in occupation of, or having or claiming an interest in, any of the property described in the complaint, or in the damages for the taking thereof, though not named, may appear, plead and defend, each in respect to his own property or interest, or that claimed

by him, in the same manner as if named in the complaint."

We are seeking to have our damages assessed under the provisions of Section 78-34-10, U.C.A., 1953 which provides as follows:

"The court, jury or referee must hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess:

(1) The value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest herein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed.

(2) If the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff.

(3) If the property, though no part thereof is taken, will be damaged by the construction of the proposed improvement, the amount of such damages. * * * * "

Certainly if this court felt that we could not properly have our claim for damages adjudicated by the courts, it would have dismissed the action on the intermediate appeal and would not have remanded it to proceed in accordance with that opinion which held that the counterclaim was properly filed. It may be that the state has abandoned this position as counsel did not argue it strenuously, however, if it is urged

in the answering brief, we will argue the question more extensively in a reply brief.

POINT TWO

THE COUNTERCLAIMANTS ARE ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT FOR THE CONDEMNATION AND DESTRUCTION OF THEIR RECIPROCAL COVENANTS.

It is the position of appellants that the agreements reached between the Wagner Improvement Company and Bird & Evans gave each reciprocal rights in the other's property, which rights have been condemned in this action. These reciprocal rights having been condemned and extinguished, the resulting damage is the diminution in value of the dominant tenancy. Each tract of land had an interest in the other arising by contract and by a course of dealing over many years. This right was to have the other lands devoted to residential purposes and to have the other lands bear their proportionate share of the costs of the development of the subdivision. These rights constituted reciprocal covenants which are clearly property rights.

In regard to the condemnation of reciprocal covenants and the right of the owner of the land not taken to recover for destruction of such reciprocal covenants, the following language is found in Volume 2 of Nichlos on Eminent Domain, page 81:

"The majority view holds that such a restriction often characterized as an equitable servitude consti-

tutes property in the constitutional sense and must be compensated for if taken. Such restrictions constitute equitable easements on the land restricted and when such land is taken for a public use that will violate the restrictions, there is a taking of the property of the owners of the land for the benefit of which the restrictions were imposed. The owners of such property cannot maintain proceedings for damages against the original owner or enforce the restrictions against the condemnor, but they are entitled to an award of compensation for the destruction of their easements."

The following language is found in 1 Lewis on Eminent Domain 429:

"When property subject to a restrictive covenant is taken for public use, the owner of the property for whose benefit the restriction is imposed, is entitled to compensation."

In the case of *Johnstone v. Detroit G.H.&M. Railroad Co.*, a Michigan case, reported at 222 N.W. 325, the court stated:

"The principal question is whether because of the proposed violations of the restrictions the state must pay compensation to the owners of other lots in the subdivision whose land is not actually and physically taken under our Constitution, Article 13, No. 1, which prohibits the taking of private property for public use without just compensation therefor."

In disposing of this case the Court went on to say on page 331:

"The claim of counsel for defendants that the destruction of the easements at bar is by virtue of police power and not under the power of eminent domain is answered by *Allen v. City of Detroit*, *supra*. Their con-

tention that there is a difference in the character and effect of the power of eminent domain when exercised by the state than when used by a municipality is not tenable. It is the same attribute of sovereignty, whatever the agency through which it is exercised. * * * *”

“It is therefore held that owners of property in a subdivision in which under a general plan the property is restricted to specific uses and in which the restrictions are valid, subsisting and enforceable against the lands in the hands of private owners, are entitled to compensation upon the taking of any part of such subdivision for public use in violation of such restrictions. That aside from nominal damage for destruction of the easement, the compensation is measured by the actual diminution in value of the premises of such owner as a result of the use to which the property taken is put, and that in determining such diminution the effect by way of benefit as well as by way of injury of such use, is to be taken into such account.”

The state of New York is much more restrictive than is the state of Utah in the question of what damages may be recovered where no part of the land is taken. The state of Utah will permit recovery where a railroad injures property by emitting cinders, smoke, vibration, etc. The state of New York will not. However, in the case of *Flynn v. New York, W & B Ry Co., et al*, 112 N.E. 913, the railroad was actually built across a piece of property subject to a restrictive covenant in favor of the plaintiff's property that the condemned property would be used only for residential purposes. In allowing recovery in that case, the Court stated:

“These restrictive covenants create a property right and make a direct and compensational the damages which otherwise would be consequential and noncom-

pensational. Radcliffs Ex'rs v. Mayor, etc. of Brooklyn, 4 N.Y., 195; 53 Am. Dec. 357; Uline v. N.Y.C. and H.R.R.R. Co., 101 N.Y. 98; 4 N.E. 536; 54 Am. Rep. 661. No matter how unpleasant a neighbor the railroad may prove, if it takes no property by physical appropriation, it is not chargeable with damages for impaired values due only to proximity. But something in the nature of an easement of privacy over another's land may be acquired by covenant in order that one may live apart from the disagreeable sights and sounds of business if one desires, and if that right has a value and the railroad subtracts a portion thereof by building on the restricted land, it is difficult to conceive why compensation should not follow. * * * *

"The right of the property owner is measured by the depreciation in value which his land sustains."

In the case of Britton v. School District, a Missouri case, 44 S.W. (2d) 33, the plaintiff was granted an injunction against the school board to restrain the board from building a school house on lands in violation of restrictive covenants until they condemned the reciprocal rights of the owners of adjoining lots.

A similar case was at issue in the case of State v. Mulloy, also a Missouri case, reported at 61 S.W. (2d) 741. There the court stated:

"The plaintiffs in the injunction suit (relators here) are owners of lots in University Heights Subdivision. The defendant school district was proceeding to erect and use buildings and grounds in such subdivision for school purposes in violation of valid building restrictions excluding and prohibiting such use. It is the well settled law of this state that where the deeds of conveyance impose valid restrictions on the lands within

a given area, then each lot and the owner of the same has an easement in each and all other lots affected by the restrictions, which easement is a property right to be protected by injunction at the owner's instance restraining and preventing violations of the building restrictions. Such building restrictions and the rights arising therefrom are subordinate to the right of eminent domain and can be extinguished by condemnation proceedings. If that suit was between individuals, the plaintiffs would be entitled absolutely to the injunctive relief prayed for and damages could be considered, but this defendant is clothed with the power of eminent domain and may exercise that right by condemnation and for that reason only this Court did not grant at once and absolutely the injunction prayed for. The easement in plaintiffs' favor in the land which defendant proposes to use for school purposes is within the protection of the constitutional provisions which provide that private property cannot be taken for private use with or without compensation and that 'private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use without just compensation, such compensation shall be ascertained by a jury or board of commissioners' in the manner provided by law."

The same rule applies in Federal Courts. In the case of *U.S. v. Gossler*, from the U. S. District of Oregon, reported at 60 Fed. Supp. 971, the Court said:

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