1955

State of Utah et al v. Fred Tedesco et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE CLAIM OF APPELLANT WAS NOT PROPERLY COGNIZABLE BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT, BUT, ON THE CONTRARY, THE TRIAL COURT WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN THIS ACTION AGAINST THE STATE OF UTAH; AND THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED.

In respondent's motion to dismiss before the trial court, we urged upon that court the sovereign status of the State of Utah and its immunity from suit (R. 67). We again urged this point in our motion for nonsuit (R. 134) and for a directed verdict (R. 177); and in our formal written motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict we spelled out in paragraph one of that motion the same grounds (R. 198). Appellant's statement at the bottom of page 12 of their brief that "it may be that the state has abandoned this position as counsel did not argue it strenuously", is contrary to the fact and not in accordance with the record. We have steadfastly maintained throughout the entire retrial of this proceeding that there was a complete lack of jurisdiction as to the State of Utah by reason of its sovereign immunity from suit

without specific legislative consent. And, contrary to appellant's statement, the cases of *Hjorth v. Whittenburg*, 241 P. 2d 907, and *State v. Fourth District Court*, 94 Utah 384, 78 P. 2d 502, are specifically applicable and are the two cases that we contend conclusively support the position we have taken.

In order to present our position in this respect and to correct the erroneous conception as presented by appellant, it is necessary to briefly review the prior appeal of this case, the reasoning urged upon that appeal and the ruling this court now reported in *State v. Bird & Evans*, supra. Following a ruling by the trial court on December 1, 1952, that Kennedy Drive was closed and that appellant was entitled to go to trial on that theory, this court granted a petition for intermediate appeal. The State of Utah, as the appellant in that case, also raised the question as to whether the pleading, then entitled a cross-complaint, filed by Bird & Evans Inc. was not covered by Rule 13(a) of the Rules of Civil Procedure dealing with compulsory counterclaims.

This Court ruled that the cross-complaint of the then respondent, Bird & Evans, Inc., was not a compulsory counterclaim under the language of Rule 13(a) and also held that the trial court's ruling as to the closing of Kennedy Drive was in error; and the case was reversed and remanded for proceedings in accordance with the opinion of this Court. We desire to emphasize that we have not, and do not now, question this Court's ruling as to compulsory counterclaims; and we desire to further

emphasize that the present question as to the sovereign immunity of the State of Utah was not an issue in the former appeal and was not decided by this Court, either directly or by implication.

Whether the pleading filed by Bird & Evans, Inc. is termed a cross-complaint, as it was in the first appeal, or whether it is a counterclaim, as appellant now refers to it, is, we believe, immaterial; and under our view of the problem it makes little, if any, difference whether it was filed while the appellant was still a defendant in the main condemnation action or, as was done here, after its interest in that main action had been wholly terminated. No matter how it is viewed, it is an independent suit against the State of Utah having as its subject matter a completely new issue from that of the original condemnation action; and, as such, it is subject to the rules laid down in the Hjorth and Fourth District Court cases, *supra*, which we will discuss hereinafter at more length.

Appellant has cited Sections 78-34-7 and 10, Utah Code Annotated 1953. At the risk of repetition but in the interest of readability, we desire to also quote these sections in order to call the Court's attention to the specific language therein. Section 78-34-7 reads as follows:

“All persons in occupation of, or having or claiming an interest in, any of the property described in the complaint, or in the damages for the taking thereof, though not named, may ap-

pear, plead and defend, each in respect to his own property or interest, or that claimed by him, in the same manner as if named in the complaint.”

On page 11 of its brief appellant states that it filed its counterclaim under the provisions of this section. A careful examination of this section reveals that this counterclaim or cross-complaint does not fall within the permissive language of this section.

First, it should be noted that the property for which appellant claims damage is entirely outside the boundaries of This Is The Place Monument Park and is not described, nor is any part of it mentioned, in the complaint filed herein by the State of Utah (R. 11 to 32, incl.). The statute above quoted states “All persons in occupation of . . . any of the property described in the complaint.” Clearly, appellant does not fall within that language. The second grouping is “All persons . . . having or claiming an interest in any of the property described in the complaint.” Again it is clear and conclusive that appellant’s claim is not covered. And the final group is “having or claiming an interest . . . in the damages for the taking thereof,” i.e., the property described in the complaint. We urge that none of the language in this section gives to this appellant the right to “appear, plead and defend.” It specifically refers to the property described in the complaint for which condemnation is sought and admittedly the appellant here is not in occupation, claims and has no interest in it and claims and has no interest in the damages for the taking thereof. To attempt to read into this section a right to

appear and claim damage for property not sought to be condemned and lying wholly without the boundaries of the property described in the complaint appears to us to be fantastic. If this were to be the law, it would have infinite ramifications and there could be no possible conclusion of even the simplest of condemnation proceedings.

In its decision in *Hjorth v. Whittenburg*, supra, this Court said:

“If all the property to which any consequential harmful effects had to be considered, and the owners joined as condemnees by the Road Commission, it would be difficult if not impossible for the Commission to know whom they could safely omit from condemnation proceedings. The only safe way in which the Commissioners could operate would be to join every property owner abutting on or *near* the highway projects in order to avoid suits which would result in personal liability to them. *The impracticability of imposing such an obligation upon the public body in the construction and maintenance of our public highways is obvious.*” (The italics are ours.)

As a final comment on this phase, may we note that the rule sought for by appellant in this case would affect all public bodies clothed with the power of eminent domain and would require the joinder of an infinitely greater number of defendants than under the rule sought for by the plaintiffs in the *Hjorth* case. Under the language above quoted the utter “impracticability” is “obvious.”

Section 78-34-10 contains five subparagraphs and the three quoted by appellant are the only ones applicable

here but we contend again that they affirmatively show that appellant cannot maintain this action against the State of Utah. This section reads as follows:

“The court, jury or referee must hear such legal evidence as may be offered by any of the parties to the proceedings, and thereupon must ascertain and assess:

(1) The value of the property sought to be condemned and all improvements thereon appertaining to the realty, and of each and every separate estate or interest therein; and if it consists of different parcels, the value of each parcel and of each estate or interest therein shall be separately assessed.

(2) If the property sought to be condemned constitutes only a part of a larger parcel, the damages which will accrue to the portion not sought to be condemned by reason of its severance from the portion sought to be condemned and the construction of the improvement in the manner proposed by the plaintiff.

(3) If the property, though no part thereof is taken, will be damaged by the *construction of the proposed improvement*, the amount of such damages . . .” (Italics added.)

We call the Court’s attention to the fact that the first paragraph deals with property actually taken and the second paragraph deals with what is commonly called severance damage and that neither paragraph is applicable to appellant’s property. It must, therefore, bring itself within the provisions of paragraph three and we most urgently contend that it does not and cannot qualify under the language of that section. We have italicized

the words "construction of the proposed improvement," and the only conclusion that can be drawn from these words is that the damages allowable must flow from this construction. In the present case, there is no construction, no proposed construction and in fact the legislative mandate for this condemnation specifically commands no construction but rather that the park shall remain in its natural state.

We have heretofore briefly alluded to the cases of *State v. Fourth District Court*, supra, and *Hjorth v. Whittenburg*, supra; and, as we contend that they are controlling of the issue here presented, it becomes necessary to thoroughly examine the facts and the decision of this court in each case.

In the Fourth District Court case certain residents of West Center Street in Provo sought an injunction against the State Road Commission and the contractor engaged by the Commission to construct the viaduct over the railroad tracks on this street. In this application for injunction the plaintiffs alleged that they would be deprived of access, that the viaduct would dampen and darken their homes, that they would be deprived of their easement to light, air and view, and that the grade of the street would be raised; and that, unless the injunction were granted, they would be deprived of their property rights without due process of law. The State Road Commission and the contractor applied to this Court for a writ of prohibition to prevent the District Court from proceeding with the injunction suit. By its decision, this

Court made the writ permanent as to the State Road Commission, denied it as to the contractor and indicated that injunction proceedings against the individual members of the State Road Commission would be proper if the plaintiffs in the injunction suit were to ask leave to amend so as to include those individuals personally as defendants. It should be noted that only three members of this Court joined in the majority decision and that a well written minority opinion was handed down by the other two members of the Court, who contended that the injunction suit against members of the Road Commission individually was not proper and that the remedy was before the Board of Examiners.

But all five members of the Court held that the injunction could not be maintained against the State of Utah and, on page 504 of the Pacific Reporter, the Court said:

“The State Road Commission is an agency of the State. It is clothed with certain powers in the nature of corporate powers, but cannot be considered to be a corporation. It may sue in its own name, and section (now 27-2-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953) provides that it may be sued only on written contracts. Being an unincorporated agency of the State, a suit against it is a suit against the State. The State cannot be sued unless it has given its consent or has waived its immunity. *Wilkinson v. State*, 42 Utah 483, 134 Pac. 626; *Campbell Building Co. v. State Road Commission*, (Utah), 70 P. 2d 857. Defendants do not argue in their briefs that consent has been given by the State or that there has been any waiver of the State’s immunity from suit. Their

argument is that the injunction suit is not against the State. We cannot agree with this argument insofar as the Road Commission as such is concerned. It is an agency of the State and a suit against it is a suit against the State . . .”

And the final ruling, as reported on page 512 of the Pacific Reporter, is as follows:

“The alternative writ of prohibition heretofore issued herein is hereby modified, in accordance with the opinion herein expressed, so as to eliminate from said writ any prohibition against proceedings in the case therein referred to as against defendants other than the State Road Commission. Insofar as the writ prohibits proceedings in the district court as against the State Road Commission, the same is made permanent . . .”

In the *Hjorth v. Whittenburg* case, *supra*, the plaintiffs sought an injunction against the individual members of the Road Commission to prevent a threatened and alleged damage to their property, none of which was taken or used for the roadway, by a raising in the grade of the road as much as four feet above the level of the contiguous ground. At the time of the hearing the roadway was almost completely constructed and the district court permitted an amendment to the complaint to include damages and thereafter assessed damages against the individual members of the Road Commission upon the authority of the Fourth District Court case. Upon the appeal this Court held that the members of the Road Commission were not personally liable for damages where they acted in good faith to improve the highway.

Both the plaintiffs in this case and the Court recognized that the doctrine of sovereign immunity was applicable as far as the State of Utah and the State Road Commission were concerned.

The only difference between the fact situation in these two decided cases and the present one is that the appellant here was fortunate enough to have a parcel of property that was included within the original condemnation action, although this parcel was a considerable distance away from the one for which it now seeks damage. That one rule of law should apply to appellant and another rule for those not so fortunately situated is, of course, unthinkable; and we respectfully submit that this is an attempted proceeding against the State of Utah wherein there has been no waiver of sovereign immunity and that no jurisdiction has been conferred on the trial court and that the granting of the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict was proper and should be affirmed.

The Supreme Court of the United States in the case of *Kennecott Copper Corp. v. State Tax Commission of Utah*, 327 U.S. 573, 90 L.Ed. 862, states the rule applicable that statutes waiving sovereign immunity are subject to a strict and literal interpretation in favor of the state and against the waiver of immunity. In that case the plaintiff sought to recover taxes claimed to be wrongfully exacted by suit in the federal courts under a statute providing that the action could be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction. The Court held that this

language would be construed to apply only to courts of the State of Utah and used this language "that clear declaration of a state's consent to suit against itself in the federal court on fiscal claims is required."

The annotation following the above case at 90 L.Ed. 869 generally covers the subject and emphasizes the general rule that statutes waiving sovereign immunity are to be strictly construed.

The following three points of the brief of respondent are written without regard to this question of sovereign immunity; but their consideration and a ruling thereon would become unnecessary if this Honorable Court sustains the position we have taken here.

POINT II.

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT FOR CONDEMNATION AND DESTRUCTION OF ANY ALLEGED OR CLAIMED RECIPROCAL COVENANTS; BUT, ON THE CONTRARY, ANY ALLEGED DAMAGE OR INJURY THAT APPELLANT CLAIMS TO HAVE SUFFERED IS NOT ACTIONABLE AGAINST AND NOT COMPENSABLE BY THE STATE OF UTAH.

In its argument as to its point two, appellant assumes the existence of an agreement between itself and the Wagener Improvement Company. As we have declared in our statement of facts and as we will explore more fully later in this brief, we contend that there was no material proof as to the existence of any agreement, but rather that the proof showed that appellant was relying

upon an expectation and a hope as to the future development by the Wagener Improvement Company.

However, even if this agreement were sufficiently shown by the evidence so as to make it proper to submit it to a jury, we contend that it still does not provide a basis upon which compensable damage could be allowed the appellant; and we believe that appellant has misapplied the law to the facts of the instant case and that it fails to distinguish between restrictive covenants that apply to the land and create a negative easement therein and on the other hand a purely personal agreement between two parties that has nothing to do with the land involved.

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